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SUMMARY 

 

Tan House Farm (NGR: SE 22441 17995) is a former tannery established in the late 

eighteenth century, which continued working into the early twentieth century.  This report 

concerns the present buildings at the site, which include a two-storey warehouse, an 

industrial chimney, and other lesser buildings, whose exact purposes remain unclear.  The 

record comprises scale drawings and photographs, made in March 2012 for Mr & Mrs 

Oldroyd, to fulfil part of a condition of planning consent. 
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TAN HOUSE FARM, WHITLEY ROAD, LOWER WHITLEY, WEST YORKSHIRE: 

 

HISTORIC BUILDING RECORD 

 
1 Introduction 

 

1.1 This report presents the results of historic building recording of a group of 

buildings at Tan House Farm, at Lower Whitley, in West Yorkshire.  The work 

was carried out in March 2012 for the developers Mr & Mrs Oldroyd, as part of a 

programme to discharge a condition attached to planning consent from Kirklees 

Council, for the conversion of the buildings to residential use. 

 

1.2 The buildings recorded comprise the standing remains of a tannery established 

at the site by the late 18th century and which continued in operation until about 

1900, and they include two ranges of buildings to either side of a yard containing 

infilled tanpits and the sites of other, demolished structures.  The present record 

allows only a partial picture of the tannery’s operation to be deduced, but it 

appears to have been a relatively small concern, and although there is little 

evidence for mechanisation, a surviving brick chimney suggests that steam 

power may have been in use. 

 

1.3 The recording work was carried out in accordance with a specification from the 

West Yorkshire Archaeology Advisory Service (WYAAS) (Appendix 1), and 

involved historical research, and drawn, photographic and written recording.  

This report will be submitted to the client, the West Yorkshire Historic 

Environment Record and the West Yorkshire Archive Service, and will be 

published on the internet via the OASIS project. 

 

2 Location and current use 

 

2.1 Tan House Farm lies on the south side of Whitley Road, some 300m north-east 

of Lower Whitley village (also known as Whitley Lower), about 9km east of 

Huddersfield town centre and 4km south of Dewsbury.  It occupies a site within a 

shallow, dry valley descending to the east and is surrounded by pasture and 

grassland fields.  The national grid reference for the site is SE 22441 17995 and 

the postcode is WF12 0LY (figure 1). 

 

2.2 The buildings recorded include a west and an east range (here referred to as 

buildings 1 and 2), linked by other buildings and a retaining wall along the south 

side of Whitley Road, with a chimney approximately mid-way between the two 

(figure 2).  Building 1 has a two storey and a single storey part and is still fully 

roofed, while building 2 is roofless but was built during two main phases, and 

was formerly of two storeys throughout. 
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2.3 The site was acquired by the present owners in March 2012 but previously was 

in use as a smallholding, and seems to have been in agricultural use since it 

ceased its industrial function, hence the name Tan House Farm.  

 

3 Planning background 

 

3.1 No buildings at the site are listed as having special architectural or historic 

interest, or fall within a conservation area. 

 

3.2 Planning consent for the conversion of the buildings to residential use and 

garages was granted by Kirklees Council on 18 November 2011 (application 

number 2011/62/91778/E), and a condition (number 17) attached at the request 

of the council’s archaeological advisor, WYAAS, requires archaeological and 

architectural recording before development. 

 

3.3 The present record refers only to the existing buildings on the site: depending on 

the nature of the landscaping scheme the developers undertake, and its potential 

impact on the buried remains, a watching brief may be commissioned during 

groundworks. 

 

4 Previous investigative work 

 

4.1 No previous detailed architectural or archaeological investigation appears to 

have been undertaken at the site. 

 

5 Historical background 

 

5.1 Tanning is the main process involved in making leather from animal hides or 

skins, during which they are soaked in a solution containing tannin, derived from 

vegetable or mineral sources.  Most tannin was provided by crushed or flaked 

oak bark until more effective alternatives were imported during the 19th century, 

and the hides were steeped in this liquid in pits for about twelve months, to 

complete the chemical reaction which preserved and strengthened that part of 

the hide which formed the leather.  Before this could take place however, the 

hair, epidermis and flesh were removed, by a combination of scraping and 

“liming”, ie soaking the hide in a solution of lime, for about a fortnight.  Once the 

tanning process had been completed, the leather was washed and beaten to 

remove the chemicals, and then dried, with subsequent stages of treatment 

being currying (dressing and finishing the leather), and perhaps dyeing. 

 

5.2 Mechanisation of the tanning process gradually increased during the nineteenth 

century, and with it the scale of production.  Until this time, tanneries (or tanyards 

or tanhouses) were widespread throughout towns and much of the countryside, 

and such establishments would have used raw materials from the locality and 
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supplied local markets: for example there were a number of tanneries to the west 

of Lower Whitley at one time, one of which gave the name to Tanhouse Lane on 

the road to Kirkheaton, and an agreement survives from 1710 relating to the 

mortgage of an (unidentified) tanhouse and tanyard in Whitley1.  As with many 

industries however, there was increasing concentration in the larger towns, and 

in particular Leeds, partly as a result of its better transport links and access to 

markets, so that small, rural tanneries such as this one became uneconomical 

and ceased to operate, particularly towards the end of the nineteenth century. 

 

5.3 Very little published information on the tannery on Whitley Road appears to exist, 

though something of its history was written by Dr George Redmonds in 19962.  

He notes that Thomas Walker had inherited a woollen mill3 which stood next to 

the tannery site from his father Samuel, and was operating the tannery and 

nearby coal pits in the 1790s, which he seems to have kept in hand, following his 

sale of the mill in 1798 to a partnership of clothiers.  The mill later became a 

substantial concern, containing a five storey building, but burned down in the late 

nineteenth century and there is now little visible evidence for it. 

 

5.4 The earliest maps identified during this research which show the tannery are all 

from about 1850 and include the tithe map, an estate map, and the first edition 

Ordnance Survey 1:10560 map (figures 3 to 5).  It seems from these that it then, 

as now, essentially comprised two buildings facing each other across a yard, 

though the OS also shows what are probably tanpits, and perhaps a central 

building, between them; the woollen mill to the east is also shown.  The tithe map 

numbers the tannery 480, which in the award is referred to as “Tan Yard”, owned 

and occupied by Thomas Walker, and the mill 481, a “scribbling mill and yard”, 

owned and occupied by Joseph Wild and Benjamin Hepworth4. 

 

5.5 Another map, published in 1876, shows the tannery as peripheral to other 

properties in the area which were for sale, and seems to show buildings 1 and 2 

(building 1 shorter than it is today), with another two smaller buildings between 

them (figure 6); it appears then to have been the property of Charles Wheatley.  

However, a much more reliable and detailed depiction is given in the Ordnance 

Survey’s 1893 1:2500 map (figure 7), which shows buildings 1 and 2 as now 

standing, with a complex arrangement of structures and tanpits between and to 

the west.  It is named “Whitley Tannery”, and by this date, directories imply that it 

had been acquired by Benjamin Crook, listed as the only tanner (and currier) in 

Lower Whitley, though he also had premises in Huddersfield5.  The 1907 OS 

                                                
1 WYAS Kirklees DD/WBD/IX/60 
2 “Steam Age Success” in Huddersfield Examiner, Saturday Weekend, 20 Jan 1996 p1 
3 The mill was originally used for scribbling (a process to prepare wool before spinning) and was using 
steam power by the 1790s 
4 Copy of tithe award held at Huddersfield Local Studies Library 
5 White’s Directory & Gazetteer of Leeds Bradford etc 1870 p528; White’s General & Commercial 
Directory of Leeds, Bradford etc, 1881 
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map shows it very similarly (figure 8), but whether or not it was still in operation 

then is uncertain, as no tanner was listed at Lower Whitley in 1897.6  The 1919 

OS map (figure 9) marks it as “disused”, though the buildings appear unaltered, 

and this is also true of the 1932 OS map (figure 10), though by this later date the 

tanpits are not shown.  In a photograph taken in 1951 (figure 11), by which time 

the site was in farming use, the buildings appear largely intact, including those 

between building 1 and the chimney, while building 2 is shown roofed and with at 

least one chimney stack.  The large open-sided shed in the yard was probably 

already demolished by this date however, and is absent from the 1961 OS map 

(figure 12). 

 

5.6 One aspect of the historical maps which is worth noting is that none shows a 

water supply to the tannery other than a well to the west (figure 5), or to the 

adjacent woollen mill, though what seems to be an outflow from the mill is shown 

in 1876 (figure 6).  It is therefore likely that both sites relied on steam rather than 

water as their source of power (which in the case of the tannery was probably 

not a major concern as there is so little evidence for mechanisation), a situation 

which was viable because of the ready availability of coal from small, shallow 

workings in the immediate vicinity, though tanning (and of course steam 

generation) did require a supply of water for the process itself. 

 

5.7 In summary, the historical evidence suggests that the tannery was established 

as a new concern in the 1790s by Thomas Walker, and thrived during most of 

the nineteenth century, but ceased working in the early years of the twentieth 

century. 

 

6 Recording methodology 

 

6.1 The recording was carried out in accordance with the specification issued by 

WYAAS (Appendix 1), between 19 and 20 March 2012, and comprised drawn, 

photographic and written records. 

 

6.2 The drawn record, achieved by hand measurement, includes floor plans of both 

buildings 1 and 2 at 1:100 scale, and a cross section of building 1 at 1:50 scale, 

all of which show all significant archaeological detail and use conventions based 

on those specified by English Heritage7. 

 

6.3 The photographic record was made using a medium format camera with 

perspective control and other lenses, and black and white film for archival 

permanence.  External and internal photographs were taken, in most cases 

using either a 1m or 2m ranging pole marked with 0.5m graduations as a scale, 

                                                
6 Kelly’s Directory of the West Riding of Yorkshire 1897 
7 English Heritage 2006 Understanding Historic Buildings: A guide to good recording practice 
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and their locations are shown on copies of the plans. All the photographs are 

copied in this report, and in the following description they are referred to by 

numbers in bold.  A small number of external photographs was also taken using 

a digital camera (see Appendix 2). 

 

7 Description of the site and buildings 

 

General 

 

7.1 The former tannery occupies a level site within the shallow valley running down 

to the east, about 3m below the level of the adjacent Whitley Road, and this level 

area was no doubt created for the tannery when it was established.  Building 1 

dominates the site, facing east across the tanyard, with its north gable close to 

the road, and its lower south end incorporating a field wall which serves to retain 

the bank at the opposite side of the site, effectively closing the yard off here (1).  

Immediately to the east of building 1, the road retaining wall forms the north end 

of a pair of ruined buildings, with the extant chimney at their east end, beyond 

which the wall seems only to have been a boundary, a supposition borne out by 

the OS maps, although there is a quantity of demolition rubble at its foot (2).  

Building 2 forms the east side of the tannery, running up to the roadside retaining 

wall, and facing west into the tanyard, and is in a ruinous state, its formerly two 

storeys having been reduced to one (3-5).  The yard itself is grassed over for the 

most part, although one or two stone-lined but infilled pits are still exposed near 

building 1, and undulations nearer building 2 imply that there are likely to be 

several more intact pits below present ground level. 

 

Building 1a 

 

7.2 The northern part of building 1 almost certainly dates from the end of the 18th 

century when Thomas Walker established the tannery, and remains largely 

unaltered from that time.  Its form and access arrangements, together with an 

absence of any evidence for heating or processing, suggests that it served as 

the tannery’s warehouse  for raw materials and finished goods (6,7). 

 

7.3 The two-storeyed warehouse has walls of coursed local sandstone without 

quoins, and a stone slate roof (except where replaced with concrete tiles) and 

stone ridge, and is four bays long, with opposing doorways in the second bay 

from the south, that in the east side slightly wider than the west doorway, the 

latter now partly blocked (8-10).  Otherwise, the long elevations have a regular 

arrangement of windows to both floors, and all openings have upright, monolithic 

or tie-stone jambs (11).  The front entrance has a pair of doors which might be 

original, but the windows fittings are all modern.  Whether or not they were 

glazed originally is uncertain, and cannot be deduced from the 1952 photograph, 

but all bear pintles driven in to the inside face of the jambs, for pairs of side-hung 
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shutters (12).  Doorways are also present at first floor level: in the north gable, 

where one forms an access at road level (13-15), the battened plank door 

perhaps original (16); and in the south gable, a narrower opening, but 

nonetheless original, and conceivably served by an external stair at one time.  

The ground floor level doorway beneath it is a crude insertion associated with the 

extension of the building to the south in the nineteenth century (17,18). 

 

7.4 Both floors of the warehouse form open rooms, with no evidence for any 

previous divisions, and though the ground floor was altered to house livestock in 

the twentieth century, this seems to have involved only the laying of concrete 

floors across the original flagstones, along the west side (19-23).  Another 

anomaly in the flooring is an area of brick paving at the north-west corner (24): it 

might be related to the small pipe which has been introduced into the building 

(25), and though this may reflect a particular stage in the tanning process having 

been undertaken here, more likely, the pipe is a twentieth century water supply 

for animals. 

 

7.5 The first floor is supported on six sawn, imported pine beams, reinforced by a 

few upright railway sleepers, and though the beams appear original, there has 

been widespread replacement of the joists and boards.  In contrast, it is also 

worth noting that the openings have lintels of re-used oak to the interior, a 

characteristic feature of the eighteenth century.  The steep timber stairs at the 

south end seem to be a twentieth century construction which has been cut 

through the floor; it is not known whether or not the building had an internal stair 

originally, as the upper floor could of course be entered directly from the 

roadside. 

 

7.6 The room on the upper floor is another well-lit, well ventilated room, open to the 

roof and similarly lacking evidence for any mechanisation (26-28).  The only 

significant alteration has been the creation of a third doorway, by the cutting 

down of a window in the west wall (29).  The three roof trusses are no doubt late 

eighteenth century and are of square-sawn pine, though the purlins are mostly 

whole section timber, with a rougher finish which suggests a local provenance 

(30).  The trusses are of queen strut form with raking struts and are fastened with 

both timber pegs and iron bolts, while the purlins are tusk-tenoned, all features 

which are characteristic of the period. 

 

Building 1b 

 

7.7 The south part of building 1 is a more complex and rather confusing structure, 

which the historic maps imply, by no means conclusively, to have been built in 

the second half of the nineteenth century; however, what is clear is that it was an 

addition to the warehouse, and the use of machine-cut brick (as well as coursed 
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stone) and the blue slate roof support this date to some degree (31-32).  Its 

function within the tannery is not known. 

 

7.8 Previously this building had a simple rectangular plan, the south end of which is 

indicated by a straight joint in the front elevation, but this was extended by a 

short distance to incorporate the tanyard’s existing south retaining wall, the new 

brick gable being built over this, creating the canted end (33,34).  At the same 

time, the building was heightened by three or four courses (stone to the front, 

brick to the rear) (35), with brick eaves brackets being incorporated, so the 

present roof was evidently laid at this time.  The front elevation is otherwise of 

straightforward appearance, and has a pair of plain windows which contrast with 

those in the earlier warehouse, but there are three blocked openings in the rear: 

a pair of doorways, and a much lower opening between them, possibly inserted 

during the agricultural phase.  It should be noted that another small building is 

shown adjoining the south-west corner of building 1b on the maps of 1893-1932. 

 

7.9 Another feature at the rear is a rather enigmatic cast iron pipe of around 0.3m 

diameter, running beneath the south end of the building from the west (uphill) 

side, suggestive of a supply to a turbine, but there are no other signs of such a 

device within the building (36,37). 

 

7.10 Access to the interior of building 1a is now only through the inserted doorway in 

the south end of the warehouse, and the single storey comprises an undivided 

room with concrete and flagged floor, open to the roof (38-42).  Internal features 

which might relate to its tannery use are few and far between but include a tall 

plinth at the north-east corner, and evidence for a line shaft at tie beam level, 

though as the roof has been heightened it is not certain that the trusses belong 

to this building (redundant purlin sockets in the south gable of building 1a 

suggest they do not), and have in any case been altered.  Both are of imported 

pine and king post form, with iron strapping and tusk-tenoned purlins (43,44). 

 

Building 2 

 

7.11 The fragmentary remains of the tannery’s east range also include two obvious 

construction phases, with the northern part (2a) the earlier, likely to be broadly 

contemporary with the late eighteenth century building 1a, with the south end 

having been added at an unknown date, but certainly before the mid nineteenth 

century, to go by cartographic evidence.  This range is shown as fully roofed and 

of two storey height in the 1952 photograph, but is reported to have been struck 

by lightning since, resulting in its largely demolished condition8 (45-47). 

 

                                                
8 Mrs Oldroyd, pers comm 
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7.12 Building 2a is nearly square in plan, and is of coursed sandstone with dressings  

very similar to those in building 1a (48).  The west front has a central doorway, 

flanked by a pair of windows much narrower than those in the warehouse, with 

the stone jambs chamfered to the interior, and hand-made bricks used in the 

interior wall face.  These windows also differ from those in building 1a in the 

presence of pintles for top-hung rather than side-hung shutters, one example of 

which remains in situ, though the boards themselves may be secondary (49).  

Next to this wall are the remains of a flight of steps down from the road, which 

would have run across the front elevation, an arrangement also hinted at in the 

OS 1:2500 maps.  The north side of the building is a retaining wall at ground 

floor level and has no openings, while the east side has a three light window with 

similar dressings (both brick and stone) to those in the front elevation, as well as 

shutter pintles, though this is now buried on the exterior, where a ramp has been 

laid up to the road.  The south wall of 1a has been almost entirely demolished. 

 

7.13 The ruinous state of the building and its adaptation to farming use allows few 

conclusions to be drawn regarding its former function, but something of its former 

arrangements are apparent: it had a first floor carried on a pair of beams running 

north-south, and this upper room may have been heated by a fireplace in the 

north gable (50,51).  Otherwise it gives no clues to its role in the tanning process. 

 

7.14 Building 2b, to the south, is more enigmatic by virtue of its almost complete lack 

of features, though the 1952 photograph suggests it had a taking-in door in the 

south end and at least one chimney stack.  The structure is entirely of stone, and 

any ground floor openings must have been in the now demolished west side.  

The internal face of the rear, east wall has two small recesses at different 

heights, and a small projecting stone near the south end, but these minor 

aspects give little away (52). 

 

Other structures and features of the tannery 

 

7.15 The northern boundary contains fragmentary remains for other buildings, as well 

as the intact chimney which is a key visual component of the present site.  The 

latter item, brick-built and standing some 9m above road level (53,54), is 

probably mid or late nineteenth century and has an oversailing course of 

moulded terracotta.  It has a square plan, and tapers above a mid-height plinth.  

There is no obvious entrance for the flue, but the two buildings with which it was 

associated were on its west side.  With the exception of their north walls, these 

had been demolished by 1952, but their approximate extents are still visible and 

can be seen from the OS 1:2500 maps (55-57).  However it is not certain to what 

purpose the energy represented by the chimney was being put: there is a 

possibility that a small steam engine was employed, as a large (displaced) stone 

with holding-down bolts suggests (58), and this most likely drove equipment in 

the large, entirely demolished building to the east of the chimney (59).  In that 
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case, the engine and boiler house would have stood to the south-west of the 

chimney, with the structure adjacent perhaps a fuel store.  A less likely 

alternative, given the probable engine bed, is that coal was burned simply to 

provide heat for drying. 

 

7.16 The absence of an obvious water supply for the site has been commented on 

already, but in addition to the pipe noted as running beneath the south end of 

building 1b, a narrower bore pipe (0.1m diameter) emerges through the retaining 

wall south-east of the same building, and appears to have brought a supply into 

the yard, though it is no doubt later than the earliest, late eighteenth century 

phase (60). 

 

8 Conclusion 

 

8.1 This record of the surviving buildings at Tan House Farm shows them to have 

been in use for their original, industrial function from the late eighteenth to the 

early twentieth century, and that during that period there were several phases of 

expansion and modification at the site.  The warehouse (1a) and small square 

building at the east side of the yard (2a) seem to have been the earliest at the 

tanyard, but were perhaps built at slightly different times, and were followed 

shortly afterwards by additions at their south ends, and later by the chimney, 

steam engine house, and a large shed over part of the yard itself, while small 

ancillary buildings are also known to have stood at the south-west corner of 

building 1b in the early twentieth century.  The warehouse survives with its late 

eighteenth century character largely intact, but the other buildings are more 

extensively altered, demolished or collapsed, and so it is not possible to 

understand quite how they related to the functioning of the tannery, a situation 

which may be relieved to some degree should further archaeological evidence 

be forthcoming. 
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Appendix 1: WYAAS Specification 
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Appendix 2: List of digital photographs 
 
CD of photographs (in JPG, ORF(RAW) & DNG formats) deposited with the West Yorkshire 
Historic Environment Record 
 
Number Subject 
D01 General view of the site (building 1 and chimney), from the south-east 
D02 General view of the site, from the south 
D03 General view of the site (chimney and building 2), from the south-west 
D04 General view of the site, from the east 
D05 General view of the site, from the south-east 
D06 Building 1: east elevation 
D07 Building 1a: east elevation 
D08 Building 1, from the north-east 
D09 Building 1: west elevation 
D10 Building 1a: west elevation 
D11 Building 1a, from the north-west 
D12 Building 1b: east elevation 
D13 Building 1: general view, from the south-east 
D14 Building 1: general view, from the south 
D15 Building 1: general view, from the south-west 
D16 Building 1b: west elevation 
D17 Building 2, from the south-west 
D18 Building 2: west elevation 
D19 Chimney, from the north-west 
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Appendix 3: Contents of the project archive 
 
To be deposited with the Kirklees office of the West Yorkshire Archive Service 
 
1 file, containing: 

• a copy of the report 
• photographic contact sheets (4 no) 
• site notes (annotated plans etc) 

 
Complete list of black and white photographs taken, in film order 

Photo Film Frame Subject 
1 1 11 General view of the site (building 1 and chimney), from the south-east 

2 1 10 General view of the site, from the south 

3 1 12 General view of the site (chimney and building 2), from the south-west 

4 2 18 General view of the site, from the east 

5 2 17 General view of the site, from the south-east 

6 2 9 Building 1: east elevation 

7 1 15 Building 1a: east elevation 

8 3 6 Building 1, from the north-east 

9 1 1 Building 1: west elevation 

10 1 2 Building 1a: west elevation 

11 1 16 Building 1a: detail of doorway and adjacent openings in east elevation 

12 3 11 Building 1a: internal detail of window, showing shutter pintles 

13 3 4 Building 1a, from the north-east 

14 3 1 Building 1a, from the north-west 

15 3 3 Building 1a: north gable 

16 4 16 Building 1a: north door, first floor 

17 3 18 Building 1a: detail of taking-in doorway, south gable 

18 3 17 Building 1a: south gable, now within single storey part 

19 3 15 Building 1a: ground floor, from the north-east 

20 3 9 Building 1a: ground floor, from the south-west 

21 3 12 Building 1a: ground floor, from the north-west 

22 3 8 Building 1a: ground floor, from the south-east 

23 3 16 Building 1a: internal view of blocked doorway in west side of ground floor 

24 3 14 Building 1a: detail of floor surfaces in ground floor, from the south-east 

25 3 10 Building 1a: small pipe projecting into north end of ground floor 

26 4 12 Building 1a: first floor, from the north-east 

27 4 13 Building 1a: first floor, from the north-west 

28 4 10 Building 1a: first floor, from the south-west 

29 4 11 Building 1a: first floor, from the south-east 

30 4 14 Building 1a: roof truss, from the south-west 

31 1 13 Building 1b: east elevation 

32 1 9 Building 1: general view, from the south-east 

33 1 6 Building 1: general view, from the south 

34 1 5 Building 1: general view, from the south-west 

35 1 4 Building 1b: west elevation 

36 1 7 Building 1b: detail of south-west corner 

37 4 18 Cast iron water pipe running below south end of building 1b, from the west 
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38 4 6 Building 1b: interior, from the south-west 

39 4 5 Building 1b: interior, from the north-west 

40 4 4 Building 1b: interior, from the north 

41 4 2 Building 1b: interior, from the north-east 

42 4 1 Building 1b: interior, from the north-east 

43 4 7 Building 1b: roof truss, from the south-west 

44 4 8 Building 1b: possible location of former line shaft, from the south-east 

45 2 5 Building 2, from the south-west 

46 2 6 Building 2: west elevation 

47 2 16 Building 2, from the south-east 

48 2 8 Building 2a: west elevation 

49 2 14 Interior of building 2a, from the east 

50 2 11 Interior of building 2a, from the south-east 

51 2 12 Interior of building 2a, from the south-west 

52 2 15 Interior of building 2b, from the north 

53 2 4 The chimney, from the south-west 

54 3 5 Chimney, from the north-west 

55 2 1 Remains of buildings at foot of chimney, from the south-east 

56 1 18 
Remains of building (engine house?) at foot of chimney, from the south-
west 

57 1 17 
Remains of building at north-east corner of building 1a (coal store?), from 
the south 

58 2 10 Infilled tanpit and possible engine bed block, from the south-west 

59 2 3 Retaining wall to east of chimney, from the south 

60 4 17 
Cast iron water pipe emerging from south retaining wall to east of building 
1b, from the north 
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Figure 1: Location maps 
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey© on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office. 

© Crown Copyright.  All rights reserved.  Licence no: AL100034008 

Tan House Farm 
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Figure 3: Tracing of 1849 tithe map (not at original scale) 
Plan of the Township of Lower Whitley, West Riding, County of York, J Thompson, Surveyor 1849 

(WYAS Kirklees MC5) 
 

 
 

Figure 4: Tracing of 1850 map (not at original scale) 
Plan of the Cote Walls and other Property in Hopton & Mirfield in the Parish of Mirfield & Whitley in Thornhill all 

in the County of York, S Washington Surveyor 1850 
(WYAS Kirklees MC1) 

 

 
 

Figure 5: Ordnance Survey 1:10,560 map, published 1855 (surveyed 1850) 
Sheet no: Yorkshire 247; enlarged to approx 1:2500 

 
 

 
 

Figure 6: Tracing of 1876 map (not at original scale) 
Plan and Particulars of… freehold estates… to be sold 10th August 1876 

(WYAS Kirklees KC 375/9) 

tannery 

woollen mill 

tannery 

woollen mill 
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Figure 7: Ordnance Survey 1:2500 map, published 1893 (surveyed 1888) 
Sheet no: Yorkshire 247.10; enlarged to approx 1:1250 

 

 
 

Figure 8: Ordnance Survey 1:2500 map, published 1907 (revised 1904) 
Sheet no: Yorkshire 247.10; enlarged to approx 1:1250 

 

 
 

Figure 9: Ordnance Survey 1:2500 map, published 1919 (revised 1914) 
Sheet no: Yorkshire 247.10; enlarged to approx 1:1250 

 

 
 

Figure 10: Ordnance Survey 1:2500 map, published 1932 (revised 1930) 
Sheet no: Yorkshire 247.10; enlarged to approx 1:1250 
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Figure 11: Photograph of the tannery from the south-east, 1952 
Huddersfield Examiner 19 July 1952 

 
 

 
 

Figure 12: Ordnance Survey 1:2500 map, published 1961 (revised 1960) 
Sheet nos: SE 2217 & 2317/SE 2218 & 2318; enlarged to approx 1:1250 
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Photo 2: General view of the site, from the south (film 1, frame 10) 
 

 
 

Photo 3: General view of the site (chimney and building 2), from the south-west (film 1, frame 12) 
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Photo 4: General view of the site, from the east (film 2, frame 18) 
 

 
 

Photo 5: General view of the site, from the south-east (film 2, frame 17) 
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Photo 7: Building 1a: east elevation (film 1, frame 15) 
 

 
 

Photo 8: Building 1, from the north-east (film 3, frame 6) 
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Photo 9: Building 1: west elevation (film 1, frame 1) 
 

 
 

Photo 10: Building 1a: west elevation (film 1, frame 2) 
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Photo 11: Building 1a: detail of doorway and adjacent openings in east elevation (film 1, frame 16) 
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Photo 13: Building 1a, from the north-east (film 3, frame 4) 
 

 
 

Photo 14: Building 1a, from the north-west (film 3, frame 1) 
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Photo 15: Building 1a: north gable (film 3, frame 3) 
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Photo 17: Building 1a: detail of taking-in doorway, south gable (film 3, frame 18) 
 

 
 

Photo 18: Building 1a: south gable, now within single storey part (film 3, frame 17) 
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Photo 20: Building 1a: ground floor, from the south-west (film 3, frame 9) 
 

 
 

Photo 21: Building 1a: ground floor, from the north-west (film 3, frame 12) 
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Photo 22: Building 1a: ground floor, from the south-east (film 3, frame 8) 
 

 
 

Photo 23: Building 1a: internal view of blocked doorway in west side of ground floor (film 3, frame 16) 
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Photo 24: Building 1a: detail of floor surfaces in ground floor, from the south-east (film 3, frame 14) 
 

 
 

Photo 25: Building 1a: small pipe projecting into north end of ground floor (film 3, frame 10) 
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Photo 26: Building 1a: first floor, from the north-east (film 4, frame 12) 
 

 
 

Photo 27: Building 1a: first floor, from the north-west (film 4, frame 13) 
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Photo 28: Building 1a: first floor, from the south-west (film 4, frame 10) 
 

 
 

Photo 29: Building 1a: first floor, from the south-east (film 4, frame 11) 
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Photo 30: Building 1a: roof truss, from the south-west (film 4, frame 14) 
 

 
 

Photo 31: Building 1b: east elevation (film 1, frame 13) 
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Photo 33: Building 1: general view, from the south (film 1, frame 6) 
 

 
 

Photo 34: Building 1: general view, from the south-west (film 1, frame 5) 
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Photo 35: Building 1b: west elevation (film 1, frame 4) 
 

 
 

Photo 36: Building 1b: detail of south-west corner (film 1, frame 7) 
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Photo 38: Building 1b: interior, from the south-west (film 4, frame 6) 
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Photo 39: Building 1b: interior, from the north-west (film 4, frame 5) 
 

 
 

Photo 40: Building 1b: interior, from the north (film 4, frame 4) 
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Photo 41: Building 1b: interior, from the north-east (film 4, frame 2) 
 

 
 

Photo 42: Building 1b: interior, from the north-east (film 4, frame 1) 
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Photo 43: Building 1b: roof truss, from the south-west (film 4, frame 7) 
 

 
 

Photo 44: Building 1b: possible location of former line shaft, from the south-east (film 4, frame 8) 
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Photo 46: Building 2: west elevation (film 2, frame 6) 
 

 
 

Photo 47: Building 2, from the south-east (film 2, frame 16) 
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Photo 48: Building 2a: west elevation (film 2, frame 8) 
 

 
 

Photo 49: Interior of building 2a, from the east (film 2, frame 14) 
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Photo 50: Interior of building 2a, from the south-east (film 2, frame 11) 
 

 
 

Photo 51: Interior of building 2a, from the south-west (film 2, frame 12) 
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Photo 52: Interior of building 2b, from the north (film 2, frame 15) 
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Photo 55: Remains of buildings at foot of chimney, from the south-east (film 2, frame 1) 
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Photo 56: Remains of building (engine house?) at foot of chimney, from the south-west (film 1, frame 18) 
 

 
 

Photo 57: Remains of building at north-east corner of building 1a (coal store?), from the south (film 1, frame 
17) 



Tan House Farm, Whitley Road, Lower Whitley, West Yorkshire: Historic Building Record 

April 2012 Stephen Haigh Buildings Archaeologist 

 
 
 

 
 

Photo 58: Infilled tanpit and possible engine bed block, from the south-west (film 2, frame 10) 
 

 
 

Photo 59: Retaining wall to east of chimney, from the south (film 2, frame 3) 
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Photo 60: Cast iron water pipe emerging from south retaining wall to east of building 1b, from the north (film 4, 
frame 17) 


